

# Treatment and Portrayal of the Roma Community in the State Discourse during the 20<sup>th</sup> Century in Sweden

By

Valeria Redjepagic

# Submitted to

Central European University

Department of Romani Studies Program

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of International Interdisciplinary Romani Studies Postgraduate Specialization Program

Supervisor: Andreea Nicutar

Budapest, Hungary

2022

# **Copyright notice**

I, the undersigned Valeria Redjepagic hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where proper acknowledgment has been made. This thesis contains no material which has been accepted as part of the requirements of any other academic degree or non-degree program, in English or any other language. This is a true copy of the thesis, including the final version.

Date: 13th June 2022

Name (printed): Valeria Redjepagic

Signature: Valeria Redjepagic

#### **Abstract**

The aim of this research is to investigate how the Swedish authorities portrayed and treated the Roma in official documents, as part of the understanding of how the Roma have been excluded during the invention of the social welfare state. Although the promises of equality and equal distribution of services were aimed at all Swedish citizens, Roma remained marginalized throughout the 20<sup>th</sup> century. To get a deeper understanding of how portraying Roma as *deviant* in official documents is possible, I examine state documents produced during the 20<sup>th</sup> century. I have used qualitative methodology and discourse analysis to focus on three time periods connected with the following three categories of state treatment of the Roma: Destruction, Assimilation, and Integration. Each category deals differently with the Roma as deviant, therefore, it is important to look at how the modern nation-state promise of universalism and equality of citizens happens together with the exclusion of certain *deviant* groups.

**Keywords:** Racialization, Swedish Social Welfare State, Minorities, Roma, Universalism, Post-colonialism, and Equality

# **Acknowledgments**

I want to start by sending a big thank you to my family, for all the support, love and encouragement that have been pushing me through the writing process and given me the strength and energy I needed to finish this thesis. I would also like to especially thank my Tutor: Andreea Nicutar for inspiring and motivate me throughout the whole program, but also supporting and giving me strength to write this thesis. Your wise counsel and guidance have been of great value to me. I would also like to thank my friends for being patient with also been supportive.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	6
AIM AND RESEARCH QUESTION	7
CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEWS	7
SWEDISH SOCIETY	7
CRITICAL RACE THEORY	8
MODERNITY AND THE MODERN NATION-STATE	9
CHAPTER II. METHODOLOGY	10
Data collection - Discourse analysis	10
CHAPTER III. ANALYSIS	11
DESTRUCTION OF ROMA – 1920-1930	11
Case 1: The committee on legislation concerning Poor Relief 1907-1921	11
Case 2: The National Board of Health and Welfare 1942 – 1944	12
ASSIMILATION – 1950-1960	13
Case 1: Municipalities	13
Case 2: The Committee of Investigation – The Gypsy Investigation 1954	14
INTEGRATION (1990-2000)	15
CASE 1 – THE GYPSY SECTION IN STOCKHOLM MUNICIPALITY 1959 -1997	15
Case 2 - Policy of Inclusion -Ratification of the Framework for national minorities	16
CONCLUSION	16
REFERENCES:	18

#### Introduction

At the beginning of the invention and implementation of the universal welfare state in Sweden, it promised to include *all* citizens, therefore it is interesting to analyze how certain groups of people were not covered by the term "*universal* and *all*". This promises of equality and democratization occur together with other forms of exclusion. The Roma people have a long history within Sweden, and it is estimated that the Roma minority has been in Sweden since 1512, and over time several Roma groups have entered the country during different decades. It is of vital importance to understand the diversity of the Roma group because different Roma groups from Europe entered Sweden in various time periods. Since then, the Roma groups have been marginalized and facing stigmatization, persecution, and exclusion (Jan Selling, 2013). It is necessary to analyze the exclusion of Sweden's Roma from the very beginning of the welfare state system in the 20<sup>th</sup> century because it declared the importance to be *the* home for all of Sweden's citizens, (*folkhemmet*) the people's home (Ministry of Culture of Sweden, 2014, p 25).

The Scandinavian countries are often perceived as role models in terms of protecting the rights of their minorities. Sweden is one of few countries that have been pushing other states to protect and promote their minority rights. The history of Sweden as a modern nation-state is of vital importance today, since the historical forms of inequality and structural exclusion occurred in acceptable manner in the eyes of the majority. The formation of the new modern state resulted in certain problematic structures that are present in the institutionalization of democracy (Taylor, 2014: 316). The exclusion of Roma manifested through various mechanisms, for instance, racialization, in other words categorizing citizens based on their race. Racialization which creates the distinctions of we and them, and we need the other in order to make sense of the majority's whiteness (Baker, 2013: 302). When looking at the historical context, the Roma people have been excluded from rights and benefits offered to all citizens. This structure of racialization happened at a time when the government was preoccupied with creating equality among people.

Throughout history, the terminology used to describe the Roma groups varied, and terms have changed. Several groups have been named as *Roma*, *travelers*, the *traveling people*, *traveling Roma*, *Tattare*, *gypsy* and *Zigenare* (Jan Selling, 2013: 200). In this study, the term Roma will include the persons who are referred as the national minority Roma and are covered by the

minority policy in Sweden. The terms "tattare" and "Zigenare" will also be used because the state used those terms in the official government document. This study contains the Roma groups who appeared in Sweden in the 19th century, and it is important to point out that more Roma groups who arrived earlier from 1512 to the 19th century will not be presented in this study.

#### Aim and research question

This research aims to investigate how the Swedish authorities portrayed and treated Roma in official documents, as part of the understanding of how the Roma have been excluded during the invention of the social welfare state, although the promises of equality and equal distributions of service were aimed for all Swedish citizens. To get a deeper understanding of how the portrayal of Roma as *deviant* in official documents is possible, I will examine state documents produced in the 20<sup>th</sup> century. I am focusing specifically on three-time periods of three different categories of state treatment: Destruction (1920-1930), Assimilation (1950-1960), and Integration (1990-2000). Each category treats and portrays Roma differently as *deviant*. Therefore, I ask how the Roma were portrayed and treated in governmental documents that cover these three time-periods.

# **Chapter I. Literature reviews**

In this section, I will present relevant research concerning exclusion and inclusion regarding Roma as a minority. This section deals also with the theoretical framework on which the analysis is based.

# **Swedish society**

The research by Ida Ohlsson Al Fakir and Norma Montesino and their "The Prolonged Inclusion of Roma Groups in Swedish Society" (2015) addresses the problematic situation of Roma groups in Sweden during the 1950s by highlighting how the Swedish state framed Roma citizens as a problematic issue with certain given characteristics, such as "socially disabled" and "social deviant". Norma Montesino has studied Swedish so-called "gypsy politics" and has taken a critical approach to previous research on Roma in Sweden in her dissertation The Gypsy Question: Intervention and Romance (2002). According to Montesino, the focus on Roma has been dominated by the theoretical perspective on self-chosen isolation and social exclusion has been linked to the culture of Roma. The dissertation focuses on describing Swedish gypsy policy from 1880–1970 at regular intervals and problematizes how the

authorities of the time described the Roma as a primitive people who should be assimilated into modern society.

I agree with Montesino and Ida Ohlsson Al Fakir that the research and studies about Roma during the 20th century have had a perspective where Roma culture, and behavior has been declared the legitimate reason for their exclusion. This thesis continues to discuss the continuity of describing Roma as a *problem* and *deviant* over the 20th century. Additionally, it shows how the historical treatment in state-documents has transformed over time, despite the fact that structural injustice continues until today.

# **Critical Race Theory**

Critical Race theory (CRT) emerged during the late 1970s as a new strategy to deal with race according to the civil rights structures during the Civil Rights Movement in the 1960s in the United States. CRT developed as a framework with the aim to provide an understanding of how the reproduction and maintenance of white supremacy is a part of the legal, cultural, and political conditions, especially in the context of the United States (Graza & Ono, 2019:1). CRT follows five main directions of research

"(1) the notion that racism is ordinary and not aberrational; (2) the idea of an interest convergence; (3) the social construction of race; (4) the idea of storytelling and counterstorytelling; and (5) the notion that whites have been recipients of civil rights legislation. "(Hartlep, 2009: 6).

Thus, CRT refers to how white is set against blacks and colonizers against colonizers, and that there are hierarchies created by white (European) in favor of white where the difference between black and white is extensive. As Graza & Ono (2019) emphasize, The CRT offers "a framework for understanding white supremacy as an immutable fact of a neocolonial state, as well as a praxis for changing it." (1).

CRT assumes that production of knowledge is fundamentally political and that it is necessary to challenge the objectivity, neutrality, and the authority of scholars because the racism is embedded in the structure of society, and the legal system serves as the primary, structural, and disciplinary mechanism for upholding a white supremacist racial order. Angela P. Harris (2017) states that the contribution of critical race theory is important in contemporary societies

due to the racism that constitutes racial hierarchies, and therefore the theory is applicable to understand the roots of the racist regimes formed in the European context with the rise of colonialism and imperialism. In agreement with critical race theory, this paper contributes by arguing that state-discourse creates a reality that formed a lasting structure of marginalization towards Roma. The theoretical framework will be used as a tool to explain how the state treatment and protection of Roma in the official document have occurred as a part of the historical origins of power structures based on racialization in society.

# **Modernity and The Modern Nation-State**

According to Gurminder K. Bhambra (2007), the emergence of the modern nation-state within Europe must be understood in the context of colonized relations with non-European subjects. The nation-states were constructed and based on liberal values; at the same time, the nation-state was constructed by colonialism, and at times as an imperial state (2007: 188). The nation-state emerged in a time period of colonialism based on exploitation and values opposed to liberal values (p.107). During the 19th century, the establishment of the sovereignty of a people in a territorial place led to the rise of nationalism and the corresponding, valued people (Inayatullah and Blaney 2018: 258) The national identity and nationhood were emphasized, and the state's responsibility became to guarantee liberal rights to *their* citizens. Some were not considered as "the people" if minorities existed, they were not considered as "the people" of that nation. Thus, they would not be identified as a part of the history of the state. This shows the historical roots of racial inequality (p.110).

Next to Bhambra's (2007) arguments, I emphasize the importance of coloniality for understanding how Sweden treats minorities in the context of being a European state. Moreover, Bhambra's point regarding coloniality is relevant and can be equally applied with nuance to the Swedish-state treatment of its internal minorities to be civilized. I agree with Bhambra's major points of making the modern state's racial hierarchy necessary. Exploiting the "others" it creates its self-value. This is part of the process of "civilization" (Inayatullah, 2018). That process of civilization in other forms applies also inside Europe with states operating towards their populations. Thus, it will help me to investigate Sweden from a postcolonial perspective. Here, the construction of "the other" emerges in connection with racialized representations of the minority group Roma in an unequal society with power-relations.

This thesis is relevant because it is continuing the discussion that Montesino and Al Fakir bring in the field of Roma studies in Sweden, and it is necessary to re-examine the understanding of "universalism and equality of all" in the context of Roma in Swedish welfare state. Further, this thesis also contributes to the post-colonial critique of the state and knowledge production.

#### Chapter II. Methodology

# **Data collection - Discourse analysis**

In this thesis, I use discourse analysis to analyze the official documents produced by the Swedish state regarding the Roma minority. This method is a research tool aimed to understand how the power of systematic language, action, thoughts, stories construct our society. The discourse analysis is a method helping to understand how the world has been constructed through a description of the world, at the same time the discourse included sorting logics on what has been "socially accepted" as good, credible and true" (Jørgensen & Phillips,2000:7). It provides an understanding on how certain phenomena, logics, knowledge, and perspective becomes important while others are not. It is important to ask "who is producing the knowledge"," whose reality is taking place" (Jørgensen & Phillips,2000)

Discourse analysis sheds light on the power-relations in society that represents "the reality" and systematic language help to shed light on how other individuals understand the world. When using discourse analysis, the messages provided may reflect and challenge historical, cultural, political, or/and ethical contexts. The construction of the "truth" and social structures in society, maintain the unequal power-structures (12-13).

#### **Material - Data**

For this thesis, I have decided to use official state-documents provided by several authorities, both municipalities, committees, and government. The primary material of the thesis is covered by government documents that include the Committee on Legislation on Poverty Alleviation (1907-1921), The National Board of Health and Welfare (1942 – 1944), Inquiry Committee - Gypsy Inquiry (1954) and the Gypsy Section in Stockholm Municipality (1959 -1997). The selection of primary material is based on the actors who had the comprehensive influence in the discourse on Roma during the respective time-period. These documents were selected because the agency arguments had a great impact on how the treatment of Roma and how the transformation in the living conditions occurred and changed.

# **Chapter III. Analysis**

#### Destruction of Roma - 1920-1930

This section will contain the logic of dealing with the *problem* of treatment of Roma, and these processes connect the state as predominantly hostile to the Roma communities.

In this time-period unfolds the imperial logic of absolute superiority towards the Roma group, logic that can be summed up as "I know what is better for you." (Inayatullah and Blaney 2018: 255) The conceptual category of destruction refers to a time period when the Swedish state systematically aimed to destroy the minority Roma, both in direct and indirect ways.

That process will be highlighted through two cases.

# Case 1: The committee on legislation concerning Poor Relief 1907-1921

The Poor Relief Committee was established in early 1907 and lasted until 1921. Its objective was to relieve suffering and this committee had a huge impact on how the Roma were portrayed and treated in Sweden during the 20<sup>th</sup> century. This was the first governmental committee that gave public authorities the task to register Roma. The registration was legitimized due to the aim to relieve the suffering of poor people, and Roma were considered Poor. In several documents, the Roma community was portrayed as a "threat to the society," and it stated that "Roma's behavior" was terrorizing the local inhabitants. The registration help was one kind of tool for the state-authorities to present solutions to the problem of Roma, such as removal, eradication, or abandonment of the Roma (SOU 1923:2).

Sweden in the beginning of 20<sup>th</sup> century were certain interest in the thinking of racial biology and the Roma people were officially targeted, forced sterilization, with the aim to destroy the community. It was also mentioned that the Roma race should not interfere with the Swedish race, and solutions for that was to eradicate Roma, as the statement indicate:

"[...] From the perspective of racial hygiene, it is maintained that these individuals' intermixture with the Swedish stock involves a weakening of our race."

(Proposal for an act concerning the treatment of vagrant, 1923: 85).

One of the received answers for a law proposal held by the committee responded with a description of "*tattare*" as dangerous to society and the solution presented was to eradicate the Roma by separating the children from families. The objective was that in time the Roma identity will therefore disappear.

"The only action that can fully counter and gradually eradicate so-called tartare and comparable persons' wandering, disorderly way of life is to remove their children from the influence of their parents and relatives ... if the children are separated from this depraved tribe at an early age ... and given over to be brought up within an institution or by private persons in a place where their parents do not usually appear, they may be brought up to be decent, productive citizens." (SOU: 1923:2)

Here we can see the colonial logic of the racial biology thinking, and the value of the witness. Here, the construction of "the other" emerges in connection with racialized representations of the minority group Roma in an unequal society with power-relations, but also the dehumanization and objectification that is being justified.

#### Case 2: The National Board of Health and Welfare 1942 – 1944

This case study is important even though the Board constructed at the different time-period than 1920-1930, it is important because the argumentation and registrations of Roma during 1920-1930 has a vital importance of the construction an ongoing mission of this National board of health and Welfare. One of the main characteristics of the National Board of Health and Welfare was to operate the racial biology investigations. The National Board of Health and Welfare came up with a proposal to deal with "zigernare" and the inspector argued that Roma people have been living a deviating lifestyle due to their race. As such, the race of Roma should not interfere with the Swedish race. The ambition to have a "clean" race motivated the government to implement certain policies (Ministry of Labor, 2014: 94).

There establishment of the *Committee on Legislation concerning the Poor Relief* 1907-1921, which registered the Roma made it also possible to introduces polices which lasted and was implemented during the 1930 – 1940s, for instance the treatment of "vagrants", but also by register so called "*zigernare* and *Roma*" it was easier for the Swedish government to differentiate because they were considered to be obvious categories that would be separated from other citizens. Later on, the registration of Roma was used in Socio-medical examination and made it even possible for researcher to access the registration to reproduce the classification of Roma (Arnsberg, 1998).).

The argumentation of exclusion as a legitimate act of the state was referring to the differences between groups' behavior, and the continuing of "we" and "them" were a basic element in the argumentation from the National Board of Health and Welfare. For instance:

"Here [one] is facing a special racial problem" (Socialdepartementet, 1942, nr 101).

#### **Assimilation – 1950-1960**

This section focuses on the logic of dealing with the *problem* of treatment of the Roma, which can be defined as Assimilation. Assimilation is used here to describe a process where a group's culture must disappear before it can be accepted by the majority of society. Assimilation can be considered violent and is not distinct from destruction because it operates in a way where groups are forced to eliminate their identity, such as values, language, behavior, culture, and traditions to become seen as valued citizens in the majority society.

During the 1950s, the attitude and views on valued citizens changed as part of the end of the second world war and the beginning of a new era with the establishment of international organizations such as the United Nations (UN). Throughout these global changes, the attitude towards Roma people in Sweden started to transform the approach from destruction to assimilation. However, despite the changes in regime and new ideology changes, there is a continuity in the structural logic of excluding Roma. Now, I will focus on two agencies in which this second time period portrayed and constructed the institutional treatment of the Roma.

#### **Case 1: Municipalities**

Assimilation as a category in this analysis is referring to a time where the definition of Roma being a *deviating* group was used as an argument to take governmental measures based on assimilation policy. The logic of segregation and is was imaged from the state as temporary period of prepared them to taking them together with the Swedish citizens.

The community of assimilation happen in this decade where the municipalities had an impact on how the Roma possibility to access from the social welfare system services, such as housing, employment, education, and healthcare. For instance, they were denied the right to access education in public schools: the children had to have a home address, and the municipalities argued that the Roma where not able to live among other Swedish citizens.

These statements about the possibility to housing occurred before this time-period (1930) but continued and the ability for Roma to access housing was challenged in the long run. At the same time the government formulated, and the municipality implemented measures to prevent the presence of the Roma in various municipalities around the country. For instance, they were prohibited from selling or buying property, a "crime" punished with fines, and it was stated as "[..] found a prohibition on the sale of properties to Roma under penalty of a fine" (2014, p.169).

This is a process of civilizing them, separating Roma children from their families in order to make them adopt the Swedish culture and identity. This assimilation is an act of the modern state, where the nationalist idea of having "one and clean nation".

# Case 2: The Committee of Investigation – The Gypsy Investigation 1954

The gypsy investigations "Zigenarefrågan" were established to examine the exclusion and bad living conditions of the Roma to present relevant measures to improve their situation and their living conditions. The investigation acknowledged that consequences of the historical state-treatment had marginalized and excluded Roma. Although this gypsy investigation was more benevolent than previous state investigation, the portrait of Roma being "deviant" remained. Roma as a group was still described in derogatory terms, for instance, the Roma were still considered to be unable to improve their living conditions because they were described as a "socially handicapped group" (Arbetsdepartamentet, 72).

On the other hand, registration of Roma's living behavior, living conditions, and living positions had to be created. The registration of Roma appeared in a legitimate way, which harmed Roma's possibilities to be considered equal citizens.

On several occasions, the Roma were characterized and described as "socially handicapped" and one of the Investigator visited Roma living in their camps and stated:

"In the camp, however, members cannot be said to be intelligent. They belong to a kind of underclass, among the gypsies who do not think beyond their noses (Arbetsdeparementet, 72).

Here, we can see the pattern of describing Roma as *deviant*, although the investigation declares its will improve the situation of the Roma. They are portrayed as inadequate to shape

themselves their situation due to their "Roma culture" and characteristic as socially handicapped. This relates to the idea of colonial power, where the hierarchy of the inferior, in this case Roma, and superior in the Swedish state. This relation gives the investigator's role to civilizing "Roma" because they are "unable to do that". The importance of identification of "we" and "them" is an essential feature of the colonial state and the modernity of the state.

In this case, it is not possible to identify those who are valuable without saying who is not valuable. The logic of assimilation is comparable to the civilizing process in the imperial state, but at the same time is connected to what is happening inside the social democratic state in Europe. In the middle of the process of promises of inclusion and improving the living conditions of Roma, the state oppresses them (B

# **Integration (1990-2000)**

This period covers three logics, first, the state continues its dominance as a hegemonic actor organizing the logic of protection towards its citizens. Second, the structural logic of marginalization of Roma continues. Third, a new ideology emerges, where the state has the intention to include the Roma in a new framework which includes the Roma. In this section, assimilation is changing to integration in terms of ideas of coexistence with the majority society, in other words, integration.

The integration ideas must be understood in the historical context of the beginning of the Swedish Roma movement in the 1960s, fighting for basic human rights in Sweden. The movement was led by Roma activists, among them the key figure of Katarina Taikon, who was inspired by the civil rights movement in the USA. The movement set a new agenda where Roma rights came to matter and the agenda of collaboration between the Swedish state and Roma started. Now, I will focus on two agencies that have portrayed and treated Roma in the official state documents.

# Case 1 – The gypsy section in Stockholm municipality 1959 -1997

This section was created in 1950 and lasted until 1997. It had a vital influence on how the Roma were registered and on their living conditions. Its stated purpose was to counteract the vulnerability of the Roma and the section's goal was to improve the living conditions of the Roma.

The registration of Roma started in 1954 "zigernarinvetering" when the police provided a special survey that was to cover all Roma in Sweden. to legitimize the registration, authorities used the arguments such as "provide help to include Roma", but on the other hand, according to the colonial logic, the registration means that the state wanted to control the group and also name it the "zigenare problem". In this logic where Roma was portrayed as a problem, it also created a situation where the state appeared as the actor with the responsibility to solve the problem by creating a relationship based on its superior knowledge.

In this case, I will only focus on how the historical treatment appeared in this gypsy section and how it was portrayed from 1990 to 1997. After a gypsy investigation in the previous period, it was determined that the Roma should have access to school, households, and employment.

# Case 2 – Policy of Inclusion - Ratification of the Framework for national minorities

The integration for the Swedish state referred to a society where there were a new beginning and the Swedish state argued for a inclusive state. This is the beginning of the contention of the document and the Swedish state ratified the *Framework Convention on the protection of national minorities* in the year 2000, at that moment Roma became acknowledged as a Swedish national minority. In the same period, the Swedish church and the government-held officially apologized for the historical treatment of Roma. Practically, Roma was now entitled to full citizenship and Roma's rights were recognized (Jan Selling, 2016).

The state ratified the European framework with the intension to provide equality to their citizens, including the Roma minority. The integration meant that the Roma should be included in the work of Roma on non – discriminatory principle. The perspective on Roma being the outsider with certain characteristic changed, and now the Roma people should be involved in the framework of Roma issue. Although the Roma minority were not racialized in official document, they were still portrayed in a way that the state is an actor who has the superiorly authority to improve the Roma peoples (Government office of Sweden, 2016).

#### Conclusion

Along the 20<sup>th</sup> century, the state's treatment of Roma was largely organized in the logic of "we and "them" even though the process of destruction has changed to integration. The state-

discourse highlight that the process of the continuity of the Swedish state referring to marginality and deviance of the Roma minority. The similarity of portraying Roma as "problem" that need to be solved, happened in the begging of the 21st century even if in the eyas of the state ends up in the 20<sup>th</sup> century with integration. Although the integration was announced, the full inclusion is still falling short, which made the actors to push for different concepts and frameworks, so called inclusion strategies. Practices of inclusion has transformed to "rights" and "new politics" and inclusion strategies stresses that the integration must be more advance in order to provide the equality to the Roma people in Sweden.

#### **References:**

Arnstberg, K.-O. (1998). Svenskar och zigenare: En etnologisk studie av samspelet över en kulturell gräns. Stockholm: Carlsson.

Bhambhra, K. G. (2007). *Myths of the modern nation-state – The French revolution*. Rethinking Modernity Postcolonliasm and social imagination. Published: New York. Available at: \*Gurminder K. Bhambra - Rethinking Modernity\_ Postcolonialism and the Sociological Imagination (2007).pdf

Hartlep, D, N .(2009). *Critical Race Theory: An Examination of its Past, Present, and Future Implications*. University of Wisconsin. Milwaukee. Available at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED506735.pdf

Inayatullah. N & Blaney. D .(2018). *Race and global inequality*. Race, Gender, and Culture in International Relations. 1 edition. Routledge.

Jørgensen. M & Phillips, L.(2000). Diskursanalys som teori och metod. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Montesino, N. (2012). *Social disability: Roma and refugees in Swedish welfare*. International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care, 8(3), 134-145.

Montesino, N. (2001). *The Gypsy Question and the Gypsy expert in Sweden*. Romani Studies, 11(1), 1–23.

Ministry of Culture Sweden. (2015). *The Dark Unknown History White Paper on Abuses and Rights Violations Against Roma in the 20th Century*. Swedish Government Official Reports (SOU). Stockholm. Available at:

https://www.regeringen.se/49baf8/contentassets/eaae9da200174a5faab2c8cd797936f1/denmorka-och-okanda-historien---vitbok-om-overgrepp-och-krankningar-av-romer-under-1900-talet-ds-20148

Ohlsson Al Fakir, I. (2015). *Nya rum för socialt medborgarskap. Om vetenskap och politik i "Zigenarundersökningen"*—En socialmedicinsk studie av svenska romer 1962–1965. Växjö: Linnaeus University.'

Ono, a. K & Garza La de, T .(2016). *Critical race theory*. The International Encyclopedia of Communication Theory and Philosophy. California state university. San Marcos, USA.

Selling, J. (2013). Svensk antiziganism: fördomens kontinuitet och förändringens förutsättningar. Sekel Bokförlag. Sweden

Peter A. Kraus & Peter Kivisto. (2015). The *Challenge of Minority Integration Politics and Policies in the Nordic Nations*. De Gruyter Open Ltd. Warsaw/Berlin

Tydén, M. (2002). Från politik till praktik: De svenska steriliseringslagarna 1935–1975. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.

Taylor, Lucy.(2014). *Is democracy a good idea*? Global Politics. A New Introduction, Second edition, Routledge, London and New York.

United Nations. (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*, 1948. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/human-rights/universal-declaration/translations/swedish-svenska

#### **State documents**

SOU. (1956). Zigenarfrågan: betänkande. Stockholm: SOU.

SOU (1923: 2). Förslag till lag om lösdrivares behandling m. fl. författningar. Stockholm.

SOU (1926: 9). Betänkande med förslag till lag om behandling av vissa arbetsovilliga och samhällsvådliga m fl. författningar. Avgivet den 30 juni

SOU (1926). av Ragnar von Koch. Stockholm

SOU (1929: 9). Betänkande med förslag till lagstiftning om åtgärder mot lösdriveri samt åtgärder mot sedeslöst leverne av samhällsskadlig art.

SOU (1936: 46). Betänkande angående sterilisering. Avgivet av befolkningskommissionen. Stockholm: SOU SOU (1956: 43).

SOU (1954) års zigenarutredning. Zigenarfrågan: betänkande. Stockholm.

SOU (1997: 192). Steg mot en minoritetspolitik – Europarådets konvention för skydd av nationella minoriteter. Stockholm:

SOU (1929: 9). Betänkande med förslag till lagstiftning om åtgärder mot lösdriveri samt åtgärder mot sedeslöst leverne av samhällsskadlig art.